THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

RECEIVED

JAN 19 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2014-CP-10-7481
Appellate Case No. 2015-002259

Lee & Associates Charleston,
LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Chicora Gardens Holdings,
LLC, Chicora Life Center,
LC, and Jeremy Blackburn,

Of whom, Chicora Gardens
Holdings, LLC and Chicora
Life Center, LC are

Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

SMITH | CLOSSER, P.A.

Steven L. Smith (SC Bar No.: 05173)
Samuel M. Wheeler (SC Bar No.: 101008)
7455 Cross County Road, Suite 1
P.O. Box 40578
Charleston, SC 29423-0578
843-760-0220

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE AGENCY AGREEMENT IS UNAMBIGUOUS WHEN IT CONTAINS IRRECONCILABLE COMMISSION RATES AS WELL AS MATERIAL TERMS CAPABLE OF SEVERAL REASONABLE MEANINGS?
 - A. Did the Lower Court err in ruling that the Agreement is unambiguous, when it simultaneously found that it was unable to interpret or reconcile several different commission rate provisions?
 - B. Did the Lower Court err in holding that Agreement is unambiguous, when Sections 23 and 4a contain mutually exclusive terms capable of different meanings?
 - C. Did the Lower Court err in finding that the Agreement is unambiguous when it failed to assign meaning to the material term, "ratified?"
2. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE LEASE IS AN "ENFORCEABLE INSTRUMENT," WHEN IT IS EXPLICITLY CONDITIONED ON, AND WOULD ONLY BECOME EFFECTIVE AFTER, THE OCCURRENCE OF EVENTS WHICH HAVE YET TO OCCUR?
3. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE AGREEMENT DOES NOT CONTAIN A TERMINATION PROVISION AND THAT NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST AS TO THE APPELLANTS' DEFENSES OF TERMINATION AND PRIOR MATERIAL BREACH, WHEN THE APPELLANTS SUBMITTED AFFIDAVITS SUPPORTING BOTH DEFENSES?
4. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR WHEN IT FAILED TO APPLY THE MANDATED STRICT CONSTRUCTION STANDARD IN ITS ANALYSIS OF THE MECHANIC'S LIEN STATUTE RELIED ON BY THE RESPONDENT?
5. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT "LICENSED SERVICES" WHICH END MONTHS PRIOR TO THE PROCUREMENT OF A LEASE NEVERTHELESS "RESULT IN" THE PROCUREMENT OF THAT LEASE?
6. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT ACQUISITION AND FORECLOSURE OF THE RESPONDENT'S MECNAHIC'S LIEN WAS APPROPRIATE WHEN THE LEASE IS NEITHER ENFORCEABLE NOR GENERATING INCOME?

7. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES PRIOR TO DETERMINING WHICH PARTY IS THE "PREVAILING PARTY," AS DEFINED BY THE MECHANIC'S LIEN STATUTE RELIED ON BY THE RESPONDENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Appellant, Chicora Gardens Holdings, LLC purchased the Old Navy Hospital (“Hospital”), located at 3600 Rivers Avenue, in North Charleston, South Carolina, from the City of North Charleston, by virtue of a contract and deed executed on January 16, 2014.¹ On February 21, 2014, Chicora and the Respondent, Lee & Associates Charleston, LLC (“Lee”) entered into a one-year agency agreement (“Agreement”), under which Lee was to provide a suite of services tailored toward attracting, targeting and securing a tenant for the Hospital. *see* Agreement.

Several months later, on June 30, 2014, Chicora and the County of Charleston (“County”) executed a lease (“Lease”) for an initial term of 25 years, at an annual rental amount of \$1,177,044, or \$29,426,100 over the life of the initial 25-year term.² Lease, pp. 1-3.

The Lease states that the initial 25-year term will begin on the “Effective Date,” which is defined as “the date [the County] takes possession of [the Hospital] and all of the following events have occurred...” Lease, p. 2. The Lease then lists no less than five contingencies that would need to be met before triggering the “Effective Date.” *Id.* To date, the County has yet to take occupancy of the Hospital, thus there is no “Effective Date.” As a result, the County has not made a single rental payment to Chicora.

On August 6, 2014, Lee filed a mechanic’s lien on the Hospital, pursuant to Section 29-5-21 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, in the amount of \$138,000. Lee’s lien is based on its

¹ The Hospital was later transferred to the Appellant, Chicora Life Center, LC. Both entities played a role in the events giving rise to the underlying action, thus both were named defendants. For the purposes of this brief, the Appellants will be collectively referred to as “Chicora.”

² Notwithstanding the below mentioned fact that the entire County has yet to take occupancy of the Hospital, this base rent has become irrelevant, due to the County relocating several departments or divisions, which would have contributed to this base rent.

claim that, pursuant to Sections 23 and 4a of the Agreement, it is entitled to half of a 1% commission, \$147,130.50 (1% x \$29,426,100 = \$294,261 / 2 = \$147,130.50), as a result of Chicora and the County executing the Lease.³ Compl., p. 3; Pl's Mot. Summ. J., p. 2; Tr., p. 8. Lee claims that the other half is due upon occupancy of the Hospital by the County. *Id.*

On August 29, 2014, Chicora posted a cash bond in the amount of \$179,400 to clear the Hospital of the mechanic's lien. Lee then filed suit on December 8, 2104, asserting that it was entitled to foreclose on this bond; to breach of contract damages in the amount of \$294,261, half of which (\$147,130.5) Lee alleged is owed now, with the other half being owed when the County takes occupancy of the Hospital; and several other causes of action unrelated to this appeal. *see* Compl. Chicora filed an amended answer on February 11, 2015, alleging a breach of contract counterclaim; dissolution of lien counterclaim; other claims unrelated to this appeal; and several defenses to Lee's claims, including prior material breach of contract and termination of the Agreement. *see* Am. Answer and Countercl.

On May 1, 2015, Lee moved for summary judgment on its breach of contract and foreclosure of lien claims. On September 3, 2015, Chicora replied to Lee's motion and filed a cross-motion for summary judgment on its dissolution of lien counterclaim and on the Lee's defamation claim, which is not upon on appeal.

On October 8, 2015, the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity for Charleston County ("Lower Court"), presided over oral arguments in support of these cross-motions. In their respective briefs and during oral arguments, the parties disagreed, based on differing interpretations of material terms in the Agreement, on whether Lee was entitled to a

³ The discrepancy between the lien amount (\$138,000) and the amount Lee now claims is currently due (\$147,130.50) is not based on a miscalculation but, instead, on the fact that, when Lee filed its mechanic's lien, it did not have a copy of the Lease.

commission following the execution of the Lease by Chicora and the County. Chicora also asserted that Lee failed to market the Hospital pursuant to the Agreement, which amounted to a material breach and prompted Chicora to terminate the Agreement prior to its execution of the Lease. Lee contested this termination and disputed whether the Agreement even allowed for termination. Lee further claimed that it should be entitled to foreclose on its mechanic's lien because it performed numerous services that resulted in the procurement of the Lease, while Chicora maintained that any services Lee provided were indirect, ancillary and otherwise ceased months prior to the execution of the Lease. Chicora also argued that Lease did not give rise to Lee's right to acquire and foreclose on a mechanic's lien. *see* Pl.'s Mot. Summ. J.; Defs' Motions Summ. J.; Pl's Resp. to Defs' Mot. Summ. J.; Defs.' Resp. to Pl.'s Mot. Summ. J.; Tr.

On October 16, 2015, the Lower Court issued an order ("Order") granting the Respondent's motion for summary judgment on both its breach of contract and foreclosure of lien claims. The Lower Court, however, was unable to calculate damages, due to its inability to reconcile several plausible commission rates. It found that a "damages hearing" was necessary for the purpose of determining damages, including the attorney's fees and costs.⁴ Order, p. 14. On October 30, 2015, the Appellants served notice of this appeal on the South Carolina Court of Appeals and attorneys for the Respondent.

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

A trial court should grant a motion for summary judgment when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if

⁴ While not a delineated issue on appeal, it should be noted by this Court that the Lower Court classified the forthcoming trial as a "damages hearing," suggesting that the final step in this action is to assign monetary damages. This fails to consider that there exists unresolved issues of liability with respect to certain claims, including the aforementioned defamation cause of action. Also, the Lower Court found that Lee was entitled to an undetermined amount of attorney's fees. As discussed below, this was also done in error.

any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." S.C.R.C.P. 56(c); *see also Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997). Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. Rather, the non-moving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. S.C.R.C.P. 56(e); *SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox*, 301 S.C. 493, 392 S.E.2d 789 (1990). In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997). Moreover, to withstand a motion for summary judgment "in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence." *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009).

ARGUMENTS

- I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE AGENCY AGREEMENT IS UNAMBIGUOUS BECAUSE IT CONTAINS IRRECONCILABLE COMMISSION RATES AS WELL AS MATERIAL TERMS CAPABLE OF SEVERAL REASONABLE MEANINGS.

Throughout the Order, the Lower Court states that the Agreement is unambiguous⁵, despite the fact that it contains several plausible commission rates and contradictory material terms, the former of which the Lower Court was unwilling and unable to reconcile at the

⁵ Order, pp. 4, 5, 19

summary judgment level. Order, pp. 13-14. Because the Lower Court was unable to assign meaning to these commission rate provisions, and because there still exist undefined material terms, the Lower Court erred as a matter of law when it found that the Agreement is unambiguous. The Lower Court, therefore, should have sought to discover the intention of the parties, instead of awarding summary judgment to Lee.

When interpreting a contract, the duty of the court is to give effect to the intent of the parties. *Lee v. Univ. of S.C.*, 407 S.C. 512, 757 S.E.2d 394 (2014). Whether an ambiguity exists in the language of a contract is a question of law. *S.C. Dep't of Natural Res.s v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 550 S.E.2d 299 (2001). And "whether a contract is ambiguous is to be determined from the entire contract and not from isolated portions of the contract." *Farr v. Duke Power Co.*, 265 S.C. 356, 362, 218 S.E.2d 431, 433 (1975). However, "where a contract is ambiguous or capable of more than one construction, the question of what the parties intended becomes one of fact, and the question should be submitted to the jury." *Case Associates, Ltd. v. Gerngross*, 305 S.C. 6, 9, 406, S.E.2d 162, 164 (1991).

In *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C.78, 594 S.E.2d 485 (S.C.App. 2004), the South Carolina Court of Appeals engaged in a thorough analysis of the legal mechanics of contract interpretation, as it relates to the determining the existence or non-existence of ambiguity, stating:

If its language is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, no construction is required and the contract's language determines the instrument's force and effect. *Jordan v. Security Group, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 227, 230, 428 S.E.2d 705, 707 (1993); *Blakeley v. Rabon*, 266 S.C. 68, 72, 221 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1976). "Where an agreement is clear and capable of legal interpretation, the courts only function is to interpret its lawful meaning, discover the intention of the parties as found within the agreement, and give effect to it." *Heins v. Heins*, 344 S.C. 146, 158, 543 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct.App.2001). The court must enforce an unambiguous contract according to its terms, regardless of the contracts wisdom or

fully, or the parties failure to guard their rights carefully. *Ellis v. Taylor*, 316 S.C. 245, 248, 449 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1994). To discover the intention of a contract, the court must first look to its language--if the language is perfectly plain and capable of legal construction, it alone determines the documents force and effect. *Superior Auto. Ins. Co. v. Maners*, 261 S.C. 257, 263, 199 S.E.2d 719, 722 (1973). However, where an agreement is ambiguous, the court should seek to determine the parties intent. *Smith-Cooper v. Cooper*, 344 S.C. 289, 295, 543 S.E.2d 271, 274 (Ct.App.2001); *Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v. Prestwick Ltd. P'ship* 331 S.C. 385, 390, 503 S.E.2d 184, 187 (Ct.App.1998). A contract is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one meaning or when its meaning is unclear. *Bruce v. Blalock*, 241 S.C. 155, 160, 127 S.E.2d 439, 441 (1962). In ascertaining intent, the court will strive to discover the situation of the parties, along with their purposes at the time the contract was entered.

Id. at 93 – 94, 594 S.E.2d at 493. Essentially, if a contract, or material terms contained therein, is capable of more than one reasonable meaning or interpretation, then that contract is ambiguous. *see Id.*

A. The Lower Court erred in ruling that the Agreement is unambiguous, when it simultaneously found that it was unable to interpret or reconcile several different commission rate provisions.

Lee's breach of contract cause of action ultimately turns on (1) whether it is entitled to half of an unidentified commission at execution of the Lease; and (2) the actual value of that commission. The Lower Court has attempted to separate the two issues, and, in regard to the latter, the Lower Court refused to assign meaning to contradictory commission provisions, holding, "[Lee] is entitled to a commission to be determined at a subsequent [damages] hearing." Order, p. 14. Despite not being able to reconcile several different commission rates, the Lower Court still ruled that Chicora was liable under Lee's breach of contract claim. *Id.* In effect, the Lower Court assigned liability under an "unambiguous" contract, while admitting that the Agreement's various commission rates are capable of more than one meaning, thus ambiguous. Because the commission rates create ambiguity in the Agreement, the Lower Court should not

have held that the Agreement is unambiguous, and, as a result, it should not have ruled on the issue of breach of contract liability.

To illustrate just how ambiguous the various commission rates are, consider the following analysis: Lee's breach of contract cause of action is based on its claim that, upon execution of the Lease, it was entitled to half of 1% of all rents due under the Agreement. In making this claim, Lee relies on two sections of the Agreement, Section 23 and Section 4a. Section 23 of the Agreement states, in pertinent portion,

Both Client and Agent hereby acknowledge Client has had discussions with potential tenants ("Excluded Entities") for the Property which are set forth on Exhibit "B" attached hereto and made a part hereof. In the event a lease is fully executed with any Excluded Entity on or before October 31, 2014, Client shall pay Agent a commission in accordance with the following schedule:

- a) From the Effective Date to April 30, 2014: 50/100 percent (0.50%)
- b) From May 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014: one percent (1%)
- c) From July 1, 2014 to August 31, 2014: one and 50/100 percent (1.50%)
- d) From September 1, 2014 to October 31, 2014 two percent (2.0%)
- e) After October 31, 2014: two and 50/100 percent (2.50%)

Agreement, p.7. The purpose of this section is to provide lower commission rates for potential tenants with whom Chicora had previous discussions, a fact that Lee admitted during summary judgment oral arguments and that the Lower Court found in the Order. Tr., p. 9; Order, p. 2.

Included on the list of "Excluded Entities" was the County. Agreement, Exhibit "B". There is no dispute that, if a commission is determined to have been earned, then Section 23 applies, in some yet-to-be-determined manner.

Section 23 is silent as to when a commission is earned, so to assert its current claim to half of this 1% commission, Lee combines Section 23 with selected language (italicization added) from Section 4a of the Agreement. Section 4a states in relevant part,

The Client, upon entering into any lease, agreement, or arrangement granting space to any new tenant during the term of this Agreement, shall pay to Agent a fee calculated at four percent (4.0%) of all fixed base rentals due under the first five (5) years of the initial term plus two percent (2.0%) of all fixed base rentals due under the second five (5) years of the initial term of all such new leases for new tenants based upon the initial term of any such lease, or based upon the initial term of the lease with existing tenants for expansion space, *fifty percent (50%) of the above fee to be paid, in cash, at lease or amendment execution*, and fifty percent (50%) to be paid in cash upon occupancy by tenant.

Agreement, p. 2. All the above language is completely contained in a single sentence from Section 4a.

Lee picks language from Sections 4a and 23 to create a best case scenario commission rate: 1% of all rents during the entire 25-year term. There is a significant flaw in Lee's calculation, however, because Section 23 makes no reference to a commission based on the entire initial term of the Lease. On the other hand, Section 4a clearly considers a limitation on Lee's commission, calling for a rate of 4% of rents due during the first five years of the initial term of a lease and 2% of rents due during the second five years of the initial term of the same lease (i.e., Lee would earn commission based on only ten years of any initial term). The Lease contains an initial term of 25 years, leaving a 15 year gap. To close this gap, Lee assumes Section 23 applies to the entire 25 years, and uses Section 4a to claim half of that commission. Chicora has continually noted that Section 4a limits commission to 10 years, and, if Lee is using language from 4a to bolster its claim for half of its allegedly earned commission, then it, too, should be bound by the 10-year commission limitation. Tr., pp. 22-24, 49.

To counter Chicora's argument, Lee has maintained that the 1% language of Section 23 stands on its own and cannot be harmonized with the 10-year limitation language of Section 4a. Pl's Resp. to Defs' Mot. Summ. J. Lee is effectively arguing that Chicora cannot plug the 1%

language into Section 4a, which clearly calls for commission on only 10 years of the initial term of any lease entered into by Chicora and a tenant. Throughout this litigation, however, Lee has attempted to harmonize the two sections, specifically, by continuing to claim that it is due half of its commission upon execution of the Lease. *see* Complaint; Pl.'s Mot. Summ. J.; Tr. The language Lee relied and continues to rely on to make a claim to half of it allegedly earned commission is contained in Section 4a. In fact, this language is contained in the same sentence as the language regarding a commission on 10 years of the initial term of the Lease. In fact, Lee is the party who is picking and choosing the language of 4a that it wants to. Chicora is merely attempting to hold Lee to Lee's interpretation of the Agreement.

More importantly, Lee's interpretation of Sections 4a and 23 runs afoul of the very purpose of Section 23. Lee has stated on record that the purpose of Section 23 and the "Excluded Entities" list was to consider a lower commission rate in the event the tenant was one with whom or with which Chicora had previous discussions. Tr., p. 9. This type of provision is not uncommon and squarely grounded in logic: If Lee had to do less work to secure a tenant, then it should earn less commission.

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