THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

FEB 12 2016

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

---

Case No. 2014-CP-10-7481  
Appellate Case No. 2015-002259

---

Lee & Associates Charleston, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Chicora Gardens Holdings, LLC, Chicora  
Life Center, LC, and Jeremey Blackburn,

Of whom Chicora Gardens Holdings, LLC,  
And Chicora Life Center, LC, are

Appellants.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

PIERCE, HERNS, SLOAN & WILSON,  
LLC  
Carl E. Pierce, II (SC Bar No. 7946)  
Joseph C. Wilson, IV (SC Bar No. 5886)  
Post Office Box 22437

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

The language of the Exclusive Agency Agreement triggering payment of the commission upon execution of the lease is not only enforceable, but a common term in such brokerage agreements. See, e.g., Maro v. Lewis, 389 S.C. 216, 697 S.E.2d 684, 689 (Ct.App. 2010) ("Per the parties' listing agreement, executing a contract for sale of the property during the listing period appears all that was necessary to secure Maro's commission."). In fact, when the brokerage agreement does not specify when the commission is due and owing, it is typically deemed due and owing upon entering the

sales contract. Springs & Davenport, Inc. v. AAG, Inc., 385 S.C. 320, 683 S.E.2d 814, 816 (Ct.App. 2009) (“Generally, a broker earns his commission when he procures a purchaser who is accepted by the owner of the property and with whom the latter, uninfluenced by any representation or fraud on the part of the broker, enters into a valid and enforceable contract.”).

The Charleston County Lease was signed during the pendency of the Exclusive Agency Agreement. The Lease may contain any number of contingencies regarding occupancy of the premises, but this does not alter the fact that it is an enforceable Lease, and the commission is due upon execution of the Lease, which has occurred. Any other issue is related to how much commission is owed, which the lower court set aside for trial and did not rule on.

**V. THE EXCLUSIVE AGENCY AGREEMENT DOES NOT ALLOW CHICORA TO UNILATERALLY TERMINATE THE AGREEMENT DURING THE ONE YEAR TERM.**

Chicora argues that there is evidence that it properly terminated the Exclusive Agency Agreement the day before it executed the Charleston County Lease. Appellants’ Brief, Pages 20-23. As an initial matter, there is nothing in the record showing that Chicora even attempted to terminate the Exclusive Agency Agreement prior to June 30, 2014, when Chicora entered a lease with Charleston County. There is no email, letter, or other notice from Chicora to Lee & Associates attempting to terminate the Agreement because Chicora did no such thing. Chicora attempted to renegotiate the terms of the Exclusive Agency Agreement around the time it signed the Charleston County Lease, see Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit F, R. p. \_\_\_,

but there is no documentation supporting Chicora's current claim that it terminated the Agreement prior to June 30, 2014.

More to the point, the Exclusive Agency Agreement simply has no provision allowing Chicora to unilaterally terminate the Agreement on the eve of signing the first tenant. This is hardly surprising. Most agency agreements based on commissions earned are not terminable at-will. If such agreements were subject to unilateral termination, principals would be free to terminate the agency agreements the day before a lease or purchase agreement is executed, thus denying agents a commission after all the work is done prior to execution. Indeed, this is precisely what Chicora is attempting to do.

In order to avoid just such a scenario, the Exclusive Agency Agreement contains extensive terms regarding payment of Lee & Associates even after the expiration of the Agreement for prospective tenants identified during the term of the Agreement. Exclusive Agency Agreement, Section 4(d), R. p. \_\_\_. So, even if Chicora had properly terminated the Agreement, Lee & Associates would still be entitled to a commission for the Charleston County Lease.

The fact that the word "termination" appears in the Exclusive Agency Agreement does not grant Chicora the right to unilaterally terminate the Agreement. Rather, the term simply references a potential termination of the Agreement after the initial term has expired. Chicora is once again plucking out individual terms rather than reading the Agreement as a whole.

Chicora also argues that Lee & Associates breached the Exclusive Agency Agreement entitling Chicora to terminate the Agreement. Appellants' Brief, Page 21. The Affidavits of Douglas Durbano and Jeremy Blackburn submitted by Chicora do not

provide evidence of a breach of the Exclusive Agency Agreement. Durbano Affidavit, R. p. \_\_ - \_\_; Blackburn Affidavit, R. p. \_\_ - \_\_. Both Affidavits reference a “Marketing Plan” that was not attached to the Affidavits, not made a part of the Record on Appeal, and, most importantly, is not part of the Exclusive Agency Agreement. Specifically, Chicora alleges that Lee & Associates did not comply with a timeline set out in this unidentified “Marketing Plan.” There are no such timelines appearing in the Exclusive Agency Agreement.

To incorporate the terms of extrinsic material, the contract “must explicitly, or at least precisely, identify the written material being incorporated and must clearly communicate that the purpose of the reference is to incorporate the referenced material into the contract (rather than merely to acknowledge that the referenced material is relevant to the contract, e.g., as background law or negotiating history).” Stevens Aviation, Inc. v. DynCorp Int'l LLC, 394 S.C. 300, 715 S.E.2d 655, 659 (Ct.App. 2011), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 407 S.C. 407, 756 S.E.2d 148 (2014) (*quoting* Northrop Grumman Info. Tech., Inc. v. United States, 535 F.3d 1339, 1345 (Fed.Cir. 2008)). Neither the unidentified “Marketing Plan” nor the alleged timelines were incorporated into the Exclusive Agency Agreement. As such, these imagined terms cannot form the basis for Chicora’s breach of contract allegations. Since Chicora has not even identified a provision in the Exclusive Agency Agreement that has been breached by Lee & Associates, the lower court properly ruled that Chicora could not terminate the Agreement based on an alleged breach of contract.

**VI. LEE & ASSOCIATES PROVIDED LICENSED SERVICES THAT RESULTED IN THE PROCURING OF THE CHARLESTON COUNTY LEASE.**

Chicora next argues that Lee & Associates is not entitled to a mechanic's lien for its commission because it did not provide "licensed services that result, during the term of a written agreement described in item (a) of this subsection, in the procuring of a person or entity that rents or leases the commercial real estate," as required by S.C. Code § 29-5-21(B)(2)(b). Appellants' Brief, Pages 23-30.<sup>3</sup>

Chicora asserts that Lee & Associates does not meet this statutory requirement for a mechanic's lien because 1) most of Lee & Associates' work on procuring Charleston County as a tenant of the Naval Hospital occurred months before the Charleston County Lease was executed, and 2) Lee & Associates was not involved in the final negotiations of the Lease terms. Chicora's arguments are not supported by the language of the mechanic's lien statute or the facts before the court.

Section 29-5-21(B)(2)(b) does not require the agent to be involved in every step of negotiations or to be at the closing table in order to assert a mechanic's lien. Rather, the agent need merely provide "licensed services" that result in procuring a tenant.

"Licensed services" is a term of art used in the real estate brokerage industry and is not limited to negotiating the final terms of a lease. Rather, "licensed services" are broadly defined under South Carolina law:

A licensee may offer the following services to a customer **including, but not limited to:**

- (a) identify and show property for sale, lease, or exchange;
- (b) provide real estate statistics and information on property;

---

<sup>3</sup> This argument simply addresses the validity of the mechanic's lien, not whether Lee & Associates is entitled to judgment on its claim for breach of contract.

- (c) provide pre-printed real estate form contracts, leases, and related exhibits and addenda;
- (d) act as a scribe in the preparation of real estate form contracts, leases, and related exhibits and addenda;
- (e) locate a list of architects, engineers, surveyors, inspectors, lenders, insurance agents, attorneys, and other professionals; and
- (f) identify schools, shopping facilities, places of worship, and other similar facilities on behalf of any of the parties in a real estate transaction.

S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-137(O)(1) (emphasis added).

Lee & Associates has produced ample evidence unequivocally showing that it provided a broad array of “licensed services” that resulted in the procurement of Charleston County as a tenant. Lee & Associates has produced a large collection of emails between Chicora’s principals, Douglas Durbano and Jeremy Blackburn, and Lee & Associates’ principals, Robert Nuttall and Milton Thomas, discussing the work done by Lee & Associates to bring in Charleston County as a tenant. Lee & Associates’ Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit No. 4, R. p. \_\_\_-\_\_\_; Lee & Associates’ Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit No. 6, R. p. \_\_\_-\_\_\_. The emails show that 1) Chicora repeatedly involved Lee & Associates in negotiations with Charleston County, 2) Lee & Associates provided substantial assistance in preparing and negotiating a term sheet, the lease terms, and the lease rate with Charleston County, and 3) Lee & Associates had multiple meetings, discussions, and emails with Charleston County representatives to discuss the lease.

Specific examples of the work performed by Lee & Associates and Chicora’s acknowledgement of same include:

1. “The Lease Proposal/Term Sheet has been reviewed by us, our Brokers [Lee & Associates] and our Bank and all have concluded that it is still not financially feasible.” 3/7/14 Durbano Email, MSJ-5, R. p. \_\_\_.

2. “Can we have a follow up call in the morning regarding the rates in the area? I really want to be on solid ground with the County Lease.” 2/24/14 Blackburn Email to Thomas, MSJ-9, R. p. \_\_\_.

3. “I . . . will need Bob, Milton, or both to attend all meetings [with Charleston County].” 3/14/14 Blackburn Email, MSJ-11, R. p. \_\_\_.

4. “These are the issues that need to be dealt with at the County and brought to a head ASAP via a face to face meeting with County and its Advisor (Eric) and our side, including our Brokers.” 3/14/14 Durbano Email, MSJ-12, R. p. \_\_\_.

5. A lengthy email from Nuttall to Durbano and Blackburn discussing various negotiation strategies with Charleston County regarding the lease rate. 3/17/14 Nuttall Email, MSJ-14 to MSJ-15, R. p. \_\_\_-\_\_\_.

6. “As you know, Lee & Associates has been hired to do the leasing on the Navy Hospital property. We would like to set up a meeting with you and anyone you would like [to be] involved in the meeting, to discuss the lease proposal that has been going back and forth between the parties.” 3/18/14 Nuttall Email to Charleston County representatives, MSJ-21, R. p. \_\_\_.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Although Chicora has asserted (without evidentiary support) that Charleston County did not want to meet with Lee & Associates, the emails actually show that Blackburn scheduled meetings with Charleston County without providing notice to Lee & Associates. Lee & Associates’ Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit No. 4, Bates No. MSJ-19-21, R. p. \_\_\_-\_\_\_. This is a violation of the Exclusive Agency Agreement, Section 15(c) requiring Chicora deal with all tenants through Lee & Associates, a provision designed to avoid these very problems. R. p. \_\_\_. In essence, Chicora is arguing that it is entitled to avoid payment of a commission based on its own acts in violation of the Exclusive Agency Agreement.

7. Even after Blackburn excluded Lee & Associates from a meeting with Charleston County, he sought Lee & Associates' input on the details discussed with the County. 3/26/14 Blackburn Email, MSJ-22, R. p. \_\_\_.

8. "Really think it is important you [Lee & Associates] meet with Eric [Meyer, Charleston County advisor] asap. Before he meets with Kurt [Taylor, Charleston County Administrator]." 3/27/14 Blackburn Email, MSJ-31, R. p. \_\_\_.

9. "As a follow-up from our meeting late yesterday with the county, Milton and I met with Eric Meyer, the county's advisor and a real estate veteran whom we have known for 20+ years to discuss the deal." 3/31/14 Nuttall Email, MSJ-33, R. p. \_\_\_.

10. "Would like to have Bob/Milts input on this [Charleston County Lease Proposal]." 4/1/14 Durbano Email, MSJ-35, R. p. \_\_\_.

11. "Bob and I are finishing up our recommended proposal [on the Charleston County Term Sheet] and will have it to you in an hour for your review." 4/4/14 Milton Thomas Email, MSJ-42, R. p. \_\_\_.

Lee & Associates also submitted the affidavit of Robert Nuttall on this issue. Mr. Nuttall testified in his affidavit that Lee & Associates met with Charleston County to negotiate the lease on at least two occasions, worked directly with Chicora to determine the net rental rate for Charleston County, and reviewed Charleston County's lay outs and plans for Chicora. Lee & Associates' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, Nuttall Affidavit, Exhibit No. 5, R. p. \_\_\_-\_\_\_.

Finally, Lee & Associates also produced emails showing that it performed work for Chicora after April of 2014, namely providing analysis of an appraisal of the Naval Hospital. Lee & Associates' Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit No. 4, Bates No.

MSJ-75 to MSJ-76, R. p. \_\_\_-\_\_\_; Lee & Associates Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit No. 5, Nuttall Affidavit, Paragraph 18, R. \_\_\_-\_\_\_; Exhibit No. 6, Additional post-April 4, 2014 Emails, R. p. \_\_\_-\_\_\_.

Against the weight of this evidence, Chicora has submitted affidavits from Chicora's two principals, Douglas Durbano and Jeremy Blackburn. The affidavits do not claim that Lee & Associates provided no licensed services in connection with Charleston County. Rather, they contain conclusory assertions that "Lee & Associates did not provide services that resulted in the procuring of any tenant for the Property." Durbano Affidavit, Paragraph 9, R. p. \_\_\_; Blackburn Affidavit, Paragraph 9, R. p. \_\_\_. Chicora has offered no evidence to support this bald conclusion.

A conclusory statement as to the ultimate issue in a case contained in an affidavit is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact for purposes of resisting summary judgment. Shupe v. Settle, 315 S.C. 510, 445 S.E.2d 651, 655 (Ct.App. 1994). The only relevant portion of the Chicora Affidavits is a conclusive statement with no factual support. Indeed, the conclusions stated by Blackburn and Durbano are directly contradicted by the emails they received and sent acknowledging and demanding that Lee & Associates provide licensed services in relation to Charleston County.

The Affidavits' true focus is on the fact that Lee & Associates did not participate in the final negotiation of the Charleston County Lease. The mechanic's lien statute simply does not require that the agent participate in every step of the negotiating process or be at the closing table in order to assert a lien.<sup>5</sup> Rather, the agent need only show that

---

<sup>5</sup> This is not an issue of ignoring any requirement that lienholders strictly follow the lien statute requirements. Appellants' Brief, Pages 23-24. Rather, Chicora is attempting to read additional, non-existent requirements into the lien statute. This is what the lower court meant when it referred to Chicora's "overly restrictive" reading of the lien statute.

it provided some broadly defined licensed services that resulted in a lease. Lee & Associates' emails conclusively satisfy this requirement. The Durbano and Blackburn Affidavits do not create an issue of fact on this requirement. As such, the lower court correctly ruled that Lee & Associates is entitled to enforce its mechanics lien under S.C. Code § 29-5-21(B)(2)(b).

**VII. CHICORA HAS "LEASED" THE NAVAL HOSPITAL TO CHARLESTON COUNTY.**

Next, Chicora argues that S.C. Code § 29-5-21(B)(2)(b) has not been satisfied because Charleston County has not occupied the premises. Under the statute a lien is granted when the agent's licensed services result in "a person or entity that rents or leases the commercial real estate or rents or leases an interest in the commercial real estate upon terms contained in a written agreement described in item (1) of this subsection." *Id.* Again, Chicora is arguing that the Charleston County Lease is not a "lease" under the statute.

As an initial matter, this argument was not made before the lower court. "[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (internal quotation marks omitted). As such, the Court of Appeals need not address this issue.

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